WEATHER!NG RISK

Strengthening peace and resilience in a changing climate:

Nine global trends and opportunities

WEATHERING RISK SYNTHESIS REPORT



AUTHORED BY

Alexandra Steinkraus, Janani Vivekananda, Emma Whitaker, Mary Potts and Nina Schmelzer (adelphi)

Contributors: Raquel Munayer, Héctor Camilo Morales Muñoz and Sinéad Barry (adelphi), Lisa Binder (PIK)

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thanks to Lukas Rüttinger for reviewing this report.

The authors would also like to thank the following individuals for their contributions to Weathering Risk during its first phase: Adrien Detges, Benjamin Pohl, Spencer McMurray, Jakob Gomulka, Beatrice Mosello, Adrian Foong, Lucas Destrijcker, Hannah Kurnoth, Claudia Zwar, Johanna Dieffenbacher, Christian König (adelphi), Barbora Šedová, Jacob Schewe, Sidney Michelini and Rania Zaatour (PIK).

Special thanks to Alina Viehoff (adelphi) for expert project management throughout.

COVER IMAGE

©Inga Israel

SUPPORTED BY



PUBLISHED BY

adelphi research gGmbH Alt-Moabit 91, 10559 Berlin, Germany www.adelphi.de

Date: July 2024

EDITORIAL RESPONSIBILITY

adelphi

LAYOUT AND DESIGN

Studio GOOD Berlin, Alexandra Steinkraus and Nina Schmelzer (adelphi)

License

For the texts in this publication, the publishers grant a license under the terms of Creative Commons Attribution-NoDerivatives 4.0 International. You map reproduce and share the licenses material if you name adelphi as follows: '@ adelphi CC-BY ND 4.0'. Photographs and graphics are not covered by this license. In case of doubt please contact adelphi prior to reusing the material.

© adelphi, 2024

Published by adelphi.

Table of Contents

Introduction - 4

Global climate security trends - 5

Climate justice and solidarity — 5

Critical minerals and the energy transition -6

Food price shocks and food insecurity -7

Water governance — 8

Natural resource management and livelihoods — 9

Environmental degradation and biodiversity — 10

Migration and displacement — 11

Governance and maladaptation -12

Social cohesion and identity -13

Evidence and insights from around the world — 14

Africa - 14

Pacific — 16

Latin America and the Caribbean -18

Middle East and North Africa — 20

9 Opportunities to strengthen peace and resilience in a changing climate — 22

- 1. Global financial reform, climate justice and solidarity 22
- 2. Critical minerals, environmental degradation and biodiversity 22
- 3. Food prices, agriculture and livelihoods 22
- 4. Migration, displacement and livelihoods 23
- 5. Natural resource management and livelihoods 23
- 6. Water cooperation 24
- 7. Governance and climate policy as peacebuilding 24
- 8. Social cohesion and identity 24
- 9. Investing in preventative and anticipatory action 25

Annex I: List of Weathering Risk publications by region and theme — 26

References — 28

Introduction

The climate crisis is one of the most serious risks to global peace and stability in the 21st century.

As global hunger and anti-government sentiments rise, geopolitical tensions increase over access to critical resources needed to transition to a low carbon economy, and many other critical challenges to peace, this report identifies nine pressing global climate security trends and opportunities. Based on analysis of the 43 case studies, assessments, mapping exercises and scenario-based analyses from around the world that were produced under the Weathering Risk initiative between 2020-2023, and complemented by key climate security publications, this report identifies key structural forces through which climate change is likely to shape peace and security in the next decade. Based on evidence from real world examples, we outline emerging dynamics, key uncertainties and entry points (opportunities) to address these risks. Through this **forward-looking outlook** on climate change and security around the world, Weathering Risk seeks to prioritise opportunities to strengthen peace and resilience now to reduce the climate security risks of the future.

ABOUT WEATHERING RISK

Weathering Risk is a multilateral initiative that offers tailored analysis and tools to understand climate-related risks to human security and build sustainable peace. A key recommendation of the 2015 G7 mandated report 'A New Climate for Peace' called for 'more and better climate security risks analysis.' In 2020, Weathering Risk was launched as a direct response to this call at the Berlin Climate and Security Conference. The initiative is designed to address the gaps in our understanding of and capacity to mitigate the impacts of climate change on peace and secu- rity through research and analysis, capacity support tools, dialogues and trainings.

The Weathering Risk methodology integrates state-of-the-art quantitative and qualitative methods into climate security analysis, includes spatially disaggregated climate impact data, conflict analysis and scenario methods and is flexible in application in terms of geography and depth of analysis. An intersectional research approach is used that can disaggregate findings by gender, age and identity groups to better understand different dimensions of resilience and risks. Its aim is to facilitate risk-informed planning, enhance capacity for action and improve operational responses.

ICON GUIDE

Climate justice and solidarity



Energy transition and critical minerals



Food insecurity



Water governance



Natural resource management



Biodiversity



Migration and displacement



Social identity and cohesion



Governance and maladaptation



Preventative and anticipatory action

Global climate security trends



Climate justice challenges whether government is equipped in its role to protect the most vulnerable and share the benefits and burdens of climate change and responses to it equitably. Where it is not, or perceived not to be, this pressure on governance can erode trust in and legitimacy of governance at local, national and international levels, posing a risk to peace.

TREND

As policymakers in Western countries battle rising populism at home and fail to meet Paris commitments to reduce emissions and support adaptation, the burdens of climate impacts, which fall most heavily on low-income and marginalised communities, will increase societal disparities, growing political grievances.

Climate justice calls for the recognition that responding to the climate crisis is not just a technical effort to reduce emissions, but a matter of addressing the human security of those who have contributed less and suffer more. It is a question of whether governments, institutions and communities are to better anticipate and address the predicted security and justice implications of climate change on human rights and social inequalities. At the international level, climate justice concerns equitably distributing resources from industrialised countries with historical responsibility for climate change towards those having to deal with the consequences. It is also an increasing consideration in **green transition processes**, to ensure that deals around developing countries' shifts to renewables are just and take account of other national development goals. These considerations are relevant to programming, financing, implementation and accountability of climate, humanitarian, development and peace-affecting actors.

The establishment of the **loss and damage fund** – offering emergency support to those facing direct losses and damages due to climate impacts at COP27 was a long-awaited, welcome recognition of the disproportionate impacts of climate change on countries and people who have emitted the least and as a step towards justice. Its establishment was a result of a 30-year fight, led by small island states and developing countries. In order make an impact, it requires **adequate financing** beyond what has been pledged at COP28.

The \$661.39 million USD pledged at COP28 covers less than 0.2 percent of irreversible losses and damages that countries face every year.

Additional financial measures, like investing to prevent or reduce future damage caused by climate change can also promote peace and stability. A granular, localised understanding of how climate change threatens human security in fragile communities, and integrating this understanding across policies and programming is also needed.

Climate justice is also about creating the conditions for all communities to thrive -not just about restitution after the fact. A **rights-based approach** to climate justice which includes the rights to peace, development, humanitarian assistance and a healthy environment highlights the importance of inclusive governance processes and investing in prevention.¹

Responses must address developing countries as partners, not merely beneficiaries beholden to meeting externally dictated climate targets. They must address the **unequal impacts** of climate change on different groups, including indigenous people, young people, disabled people, women and the elderly. Responses must also align **climate and development goals.** Solely focusing on climate targets can hinder national development, missing the chance to achieve both simultaneously, as well as discourage domestic support, which can create political disincentives.

Critical minerals and the energy transition

The transition to a renewable energy economy hinges on access to critical minerals like cobalt, graphite and lithium — many of which are highly concentrated in developing countries that have weak environmental and labour protection practices, often on or near indigenous land.² How these minerals are sourced will determine whether this transition supports peaceful, sustainable development in the countries where they are extracted or reinforces insecurity, exacerbating local tensions and instability.

TREND

The rush to procure and safeguard critical minerals for the energy transition can hinder sustainable, responsible and conflict-sensitive global practices. Efforts towards diversifying the geographical sourcing and processing of critical minerals away from China progress slowly.

Critical materials are a diplomatic priority. Their production and processing are highly concentrated geographically, posing challenges related to resource security and geopolitical dynamics. This concentration creates vulnerabilities and uncertainties for both consuming and producing countries that may affect the use, cost and sustainability of energy transition technologies. Strategies to diversify the supply and production chains for these materials are starting to emerge, reflecting multiple economic, political and social priorities and considerations.

According to the IEA, demand for critical minerals grows by more than double by 2030 under a Announced Pledges Scenario.

Critical mineral mining has been linked with **environmental degradation and violence** over water, land use and lack of community participation. Demand for critical minerals is expected to increase six-fold from current needs,³ raising concerns of increased conflict.

54 percent of energy transition minerals are located on or near indigenous peoples' land, with the percentage rising to over 80 percent in the case of lithium projects.⁴ Around half of the world's copper and lithium production is concentrated in high water-stress areas, including the lithium triangle in South America.⁵ Without

effective **social and environmental safeguards**, the potential for conflict over both land and water rights grow.

Long-term effects when unsustainable mining practices are used are polluted lands, water and resources, the destruction of culturally significant sites, increased rates of violence against land defenders and the trafficking of women and children.⁶

As China dominates critical mineral supply chains and processing capacity required for the transition to low carbon energy sources, this also poses significant geopolitical risks. As governments around the world, particularly in the West, seek to shore up their mineral supply chains to safeguard their energy security, new partnerships and practices are required to ensure efforts to curb the climate crisis avoid increased instability, ecological damage and scope for corruption.

Responses must first understand how the transition to a low-carbon economy—and the extraction and processing of minerals and metals required to make that shift—could affect fragility and conflict dynamics in mineral-rich contexts. Governments should ensure conflict-sensitivity is a core requirement for all **climate financing** for clean energy in the extractive and minerals sector through frameworks with risk-based due diligence to anticipate and avoid environmental degradation and conflicts, and provide a channel for community engagement.⁷

²Owen, J. R. et al. (2023). ³IEA (2022). ⁴IRENA (2023). ⁵IRENA (2023). ⁶First Peoples Worldwide (2021). ⁷OECD (2022).



Food insecurity and conflict are mutually reinforcing and closely linked - decreased agricultural and economic productivity as a result of climate change will increase food prices, compounding fragility and conflict across the globe.⁸

TREND

Forecasts suggest agricultural production will continue to be exacerbated by climate change, likely increasing price volatility in the future. Poorer countries close to the equator with fewer resources will be hardest hit, likely resulting in political instability associated with food price spikes.

More than a quarter of a billion people in 58 countries are estimated to be experiencing acute food-insecurity. The global food crisis is driven by a confluence of interconnected **governance**, **social**, **economic and climatic challenges**, including the competition for resources related to agriculture or pastoralism, reform processes that can lead to occurrences of land grabbing, rising costs of food, mass displacement, and geopolitical manipulation.

Weather extremes linked to climate change primarily drove food insecurity in 19 of the 58 countries facing crises level or worse food insecurity in 2022. ¹⁰ These forces disproportionately affect vulnerable communities in fragile contexts, increasing the risk of conflict.

Food prices are the most influential factor in the relationship between food and conflict. Spikes in food prices are frequently driven by **short-term weather variations,** as agriculture is strongly

affected by changes in rainfall patterns and temperature changes.¹¹

Climate-related conflict is more likely to emerge in regions highly vulnerable to climate variability where there is **low socio-economic development, low state capacity, socio-political inequality, and high reliance on agricultural production.** In particular, food security is shown to be one of the main vectors linking the adverse effects of climate change to violent conflict. ¹² Price volatility and agricultural resource competition, frequently driven by short-term weather variations, including **shifting rainfall patterns, drought and temperature changes,** are underscoring this connection further. ¹³

Conflict can also have impacts in countries far from where the violence is occurring. The Russian war of aggression in Ukraine is driving spikes in global food prices, especially in countries that have become reliant on Russia and Ukraine for its wheat supply and other imports.

Globally, the gender gap in food insecurity continues to increase. In 2021, 31.9 percent of women around the world were moderately or severely food insecure, compared to 27.6 percent of men.¹⁴

Achieving food security is a critical contribution to stability. Responses to reduce this challenge must therefore ensure conflict-sensitive and climate change risk informed strategies. Additionally, greater investments are required which support economic diversification away from economies that are heavily reliant on food systems as the main employer of people.

⁸Sova, C. et al. (2023). ⁹United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (2023). ¹⁰FSIN and Global Network Against Food Crises (2023). ¹¹Sova, C. et al. (2023). ¹²Devlen, L. et al. (2022). ¹³Ibid. ¹⁴FAO (n.d.)

From 2016 to 2023, high acute food insecurity doubled.

FIGURE 1

11% in 48 countries and territories

21.5% in 59 countries and territories



Climate change is creating changes and volatility in seasonal flows and regional water scarcity which affects human security and prospects for peace through its adverse impacts on food security, livelihoods, health, energy and climate resilience.

TREND

While water stress is increasing worldwide, it is not likely to directly spark international conflict. Water also has the potential to be a strong source of international cooperation with renewed focus on water as a central driver to achieve the SDGs and other global agendas like the Paris Agreement.

Climate change is already affecting the frequency and severity of extreme events like droughts and floods, which in turn affects agricultural predictability and productivity, food prices, and the physical security of people and critical infrastructure and assets. It can also degrade **water quality** for human use – for example, as sea levels rise, saltwater intrudes into coastal aquifers and toxins concentrate in drying rivers. Poor management and rising demand for water also plays an important role in contributing to fragility and insecurity, but climate change is unambiguously worsening drought, scarcity and inequality.

Regions with weak governance, inadequate infrastructure and fragile institutions are more likely to experience **water-related conflict**¹⁵ and migration and food insecurity related to water shocks. Whilst water stress is increasing worldwide, it is not likely to be used as a direct justification or declaration for conflict. More than 280 river basins worldwide are shared by two or more countries, which often leads to disputes between upstream and downstream countries.

Climate change will increase the pressure on scarce water supplies in many basins, increasing the risk of tension. However, these disputes are not likely to lead to 'water wars.'

Of the almost **2,000 incidents** that took place in transboundary basins between 1990 and 2008, approximately twice as many events were cooperative.¹⁶

A key question has emerged: Will historical trends be a good guide to the future -or will the combined pressure of economic development, demographics and climate change prove too much for existing governance mechanisms and tensions that could lead to transboundary violence?

Conflict between states over water have been rare in modern history: rather, water scarcity is more likely to spark violence at the **local level.** However, states have been known to weaponize water control and infrastructure, as seen in conflicts in Gaza, Iraq, Syria, the West Bank, and Somalia.

The **weaponisation** of water is expected to become more common in the coming decade.¹⁷

Water also has the potential to be a strong source of **international cooperation** with renewed focus on water as a central driver to achieve the SDGs and other global agendas like the Paris Agreement in the wake of the 2023 UN Water Conference.¹⁸

As climate change will only continue to increase water stress, enhancing the efficiency of water infrastructure, use and governance are key. This includes adequately uniting water policies with energy and global food system policies to ensure comprehensive action and increase resilience. 19 Responses must prioritise action around local analysis of water- and climate-related challenges and solutions and mobilise collective action and collaboration though centralising and sharing data and research methods.

 ¹⁵Devlen, L. et al. (2022). ¹⁶Climate Diplomacy (n.d.).
 ¹⁷Devlen, L. et al. (2022). ¹⁸Mosello, B. and A. Steinkraus (2023). ¹⁹Whitaker, E. (2023).



Natural resource management and livelihoods

Climate change affects the availability of, access to and quality of natural resources such as land, water, soil, plants and livestock, which can contribute to conflict over **competing interests, changes in access to, and control** over these resources. Additional drivers of conflict can include contradictions between local and imposed natural resource management systems, unequal resource distribution and lack of clarity in policies and laws.²⁰

TREND

As climate change increases the frequency and intensity of extreme weather events like droughts, wildfires and floods, conflicts linked to resource scarcity and competition will increase and intensify.²¹ Most of these conflicts will take place at the local level in rural contexts.

In some countries, the pastoral economy can compromise up to 90 percent of all employment opportunities and 95 percent of family income and livelihood insecurity. The degradation of climate-sensitive natural resources and economic assets **like pastures, cropland, arable land, fishing grounds and livestock** drastically disrupt livelihoods that depend on these resources.²³ 80 percent of the world's poor depend on natural resources for their livelihoods and live in rural areas.²⁴

Men, women, youth and other groups of people have different levels of access, knowledge of and control over natural resources. Livelihood and economic activities also vary by gender and identity group. Women are often more responsible to provide food and water and rely on public services differently to men and are more vulnerable to environmental stressors. These identity-based barriers often prevent women and other marginalised groups from owning land and earning income.²⁷

Responses must focus on ways natural resource management can support livelihood diversification to help communities adapt to environmental shocks, strengthen social cohesion, revitalise rural livelihoods and increase availability of jobs. To address intersectional dimensions, capacity building projects can support excluded groups such as women, youth and the disabled through measures like managing savings and credit schemes, supporting women or youth-owned businesses, vocational training and offering job opportunities.²⁸

FIGURE 2

Whether increased competition over natural resources escalates into conflict depends on a number of risk factors²⁵

>> A history of conflict & fragility
Civil war, ethnic rivalries, and
interstate conflict often establish
a culture of violence, weaken cooperative mechanisms, and make
arms easily available.

>> High dependence

Groups that are highly dependent on specific supplies of natural resources and lack alternatives may be more likely to pursue coping strategies that could spur conflict.



>> Inequality & marginalisation

Imbalances in power and rights can lead to differences in access to resources, which can entrench poverty and inequality. Inequality, or the perception of it, can spur conflict between the "haves" and the "have nots". Marginalised groups are often excluded from formal methods of resolving resource conflicts.

Source: Rüttinger, L., R. Munayer, P. van Ackern and F. Titze (2022). Adapted from The nature of conflict and peace. The links between environment, security and peace and their importance for the United Nations.

Matiru, V. and A. P. Castro (2022).
 Whitaker, E. (2023).
 Whitaker, E. and A. Steinkraus (2023).
 Detges, A. and A. Foong (2023).
 World Bank (2022).
 Rüttinger, L., R. Munayer, P. van Ackern and F. Titze (2022).
 Cagoco-Guiam, R. (2013)
 Kane, S. and V. Hickey (2023).



Environmental degradation and biodiversity

Climatic and non-climatic factors interact in a vicious circle.²⁹ Climate change can drive environmental degradation and biodiversity loss, leading to insecurity and exacerbated conflict, while conflict and insecurity contribute to environmental destruction and degradation.

TREND

In almost every region, population growth, rapid urbanisation, rising consumption, desertification, environmental degradation and climate change will combine to diminish biodiversity. Countries will face worsened water scarcity, food insecurity and deeper inequalities as a result.

Between 1970 and 2016, the global number of mammals, birds, amphibians, reptiles and fish species has declined by 68 percent³⁰ while about one million animal and plant species are on the verge of extinction across all of Earth's ecosystems.³¹

Whether caused directly by human action or indirectly by climate change, the degradation of environmental spaces and loss of land and marine biodiversity can affect peace and security through a number of pathways. In fragile contexts, without **livelihood alternatives** and safety nets for affected populations, any **price spikes** of food, farming inputs and cattle feed can quickly escalate into conflict and political instability, even putting the legitimacy of governments and governance arrangements into question. This can lead to **displacement**, which can boost societal instability, marginalisation, discrimination, criminality and mistrust when not managed well. 33

At the same time, insecurity contributes to environmental degradation. Wars and conflicts often interrupt **nature protection and restoration** activities, compromising local ecosystems. This is exacerbated by the fact that the maintenance of law and order is severely reduced or inexistent in such contexts.

Environmental crimes – such as wildlife trade and illegal extraction of oil, minerals and timber – constitute approximately 38 percent of the financing for illegal, non-state armed groups, including terrorist groups, thus strengthening criminal networks and further increasing insecurity.³⁴

Conflict hotspots and war zones can also have high concentrations of rubble, chemicals and heavy metals which can **severely pollute** water, air and soil. This can be a result of attacks to infrastructure and military bases, as well as the **weaponisation of nature and resources,** including water poisoning, dam breakage or withholding of water flows, forest or ecosystem arson and the placement of landmines.³⁵

In some regions such as in Asia and the Pacific, economic growth, which has helped reduce poverty, burdens ecosystems. Unsustainable consumption patterns have led to worsening air pollution, water scarcity and waste generation, threatening human and environmental health. Increased demand for fossil fuels and natural resources – extensive agriculture, palm oil and rubber plantations, aquaculture and the illegal trade in wildlife – are causing environmental degradation and biodiversity loss and increasing social inequalities.

Future economic and human security depends on harnessing natural capital sustainably while mitigating and adapting to climate change, and separate economic growth from resource consumption.

Responses to the risks of climate and environmental change to peace must be multi-faceted, addressing both the climatic-environmental and the socio-economic drivers of insecurity. This means investing in efficient resource use and ecosystem and biodiversity restoration while preparing populations to adapt to inevitable changes, such as by promoting livelihood alternatives.

 ²⁹Rüttinger, L. et al. (2022). ³⁰Almond, R.E.A. et al. (2020).
 ³¹Brondizio, E. et al. (2019). ³²Climate Diplomacy Factbook (n.d.). ³³Detges, A. et al. (2022). ³⁴Nellemann, C. et al. (2018). ³⁵Weir, D. (2017).

Migration and displacement

Climate change contributes to the movement of people through a variety of means, and when people move to communities that are already underserved, stretching governance capacities, resources and services, this can create tension and conflict.

TREND

More people facing loss of livelihoods and liveability in highly climate exposed locations will move to urban centres. Already fragile urban contexts will experience increasing socio-political tensions and political mobilisation as the ground-swell catalysed by climate change compounds widening economic inequality, and strains governance and service delivery, especially among marginalised populations. Climate change will amplify existing migration patterns.

There are considerable misconceptions about why people move, how many move, and what effects these migration patterns have. Often, huge predictions of mass migration are made, yet the evidence points to a more nuanced reality. Most movement will be within-countries, from **rural to urban** settings, a trend which is projected to increase. While rapid-onset disasters typically lead to short-term displacement, people may decide to move permanently or go farther away if events recur repeatedly or cause massive damage. Currently most migration is **temporary** rather than permanent, but this trend will likely change as over time, as climate impacts reduce the viability of returning.

Whilst the reasons people move, like the links between migration and climate change, are complex, multifaceted and context-dependent, evidence shows that climate-induced **environmental pressures**, **livelihood stress and weakening governance** increasingly affect migration patterns.

Individuals might choose or be forced to migrate, either in direct response to climatic impacts or as an indirect response to climate related **stresses to livelihoods.** The likelihood of migration also depends on communities' ability to adapt to the impacts of climate change, which can be met by adaptation measures such as increasing individuals' access to resources (including transportation, social networks, and legal pathways).

The world's **urban population** is projected to double between 2015 to 2050, in part because people from rural areas whose lives and livelihoods are undermined by climate change are being driven to cities in search of economic and social stability. But many of the world's rapidly-growing cities are already struggling to handle their own climate issues. From rising seas to freshwater scarcity, the interaction between climate change, population growth and fragility in cities has made them hotbeds for **social and economic inequalities** — increasing the risk of violence and having a profound impact on human security in urban centres around the world.

Some people cannot move. Climate change and its impacts can also trap the most vulnerable populations, including women, youth, the elderly and those with disabilities, who lack sufficient resources or rights to move.³⁷

Mobility itself is not inherently a risk. It can serve as a positive coping strategy and be an important **driver of economic development.**³⁸

Responses to climate-related migration and displacement must ensure the protection of and durable solutions for persons affected by climate change to be able to move safely and with dignity. It is also important that responses assess cohesion.

Assessing social cohesion in situations of climate-related mobility and displacement can be challenging and requires **context-based indicators**, including of perceptions and subjective experiences. Assessments should disaggregate demographic and social groups to understand differentiated experiences and challenges.

Responses call for: investing in **inclusive and context specific processes** to better understand
the drivers of climate migration and inform
well-targeted policies; **better rural-urban con- nectivity** through markets, provision of internet
access, energy and transport infrastructure; more **comprehensive urban plans** to address projected
population changes arising from climate impacts
in rural areas and integrating climate change and
internal migration trends into climate security risk
informed development planning.

³⁶Ginetti, J. et al. (2019). ³⁷Cattaneo, C. et al. (2019). ³⁸Bosetti, V. et al. (2018).

Governance and maladaptation

Climate change – whether through rapid-onset events like floods and storms, or through more slowly moving processes, such as droughts, sea level rise, and temperature change – can compound existing governance challenges and contribute to the fragility of areas already experiencing or vulnerable to armed conflict and violence.

TREND

Where governance institutions in fragile contexts are unable to provide timely and equitable support or safety nets to deal with the impacts of climate change, more people, especially young people, will choose unsafe coping strategies like illegal logging or joining armed groups.

By recognising the links between climate change and existing social, economic, and governance challenges, programming can help build resilience and stability. Factors such as **stronger local governance**, **bolstering trust** between governance providers and communities, and **building social cohesion** can influence success in mitigating the effects of climate impacts and conflict.³⁹

Stronger state capacity, at least in some cases, can reduce the likelihood that climate variability compounds conflict. Specifically, the capacity of states to prevent, mitigate and respond effectively and equitably to social and economic challenges brought about by climate change may in large part determine whether violence occurs. This indicates a clear role that **effective local governance** can play in mitigating and responding to climate-influenced conflict drivers.⁴⁰

In the absence of effective support from governance institutions, when people and communities don't have support or safety networks to deal with the impacts of climate change, they may **maladapt**. This risk is higher in fragile and conflict-affected countries and communities, where governance is often already strained, and could exacerbate insecurity. For example, to maintain their livelihoods, farmers struggling to make ends meet can turn to illegal production (i.e. poppy farming for opium production, illegal coca and marijuana production) out of necessity, **strengthening criminal networks** and contributing to the expansion of armed groups. Degradation of

natural resources can also result in picking up unsustainable economic activities like informal and illegal logging⁴⁴ and mining.⁴⁵

While state actors have the potential to mitigate risks, they may also play a key role in exacerbating climate security risks. Rent seeking behaviour and corruption by state authorities often allow for the **overexploitation of resources** and **undermine trust** between government and local communities. Extreme weather events challenge **government effectiveness and legitimacy** -increasing grievances against governments when they are unable, or in some cases unwilling, to provide adequate protection or relief during emergency situations. Even well-intentioned but poorly designed climate and security policies carry risks and can also **bolster recruitment and support** for armed opposition groups.

Mitigation and adaptation policies must take account of the ways in which not just climate change, but also responses to climate change, affect power dynamics, creates new winners and losers and can reinforce inequitable structures in order to avoid negative outcomes and foster more equitable and inclusive ones.

The concepts of 'conflict sensitivity' and 'anticipatory governance' are imperative approaches for exploring how to foster governance capacities to first, do no harm, and then to plan and programme for change and uncertainty.

Investing to strengthen governance capacity of local institutions should be a priority to create an enabling environment for peace and climate resilience. This should involve connecting locally led solutions and governance structures with the financing, knowledge and capacity support required to address climate change and conflict. Priority should be placed on addressing sub-national, national and transboundary challenges, with accessible financing to address systemic underlying drivers of conflict and climate vulnerability such as marginalization, poor governance, or inequitable national policies around, for example, land use and agricultural production.

 ³⁹ MercyCorps. (2020) ⁴⁰ Ibid. ⁴¹Climate Diplomacy Podcast (2023). ⁴²Brown, O. (2019). ⁴³Nett, K. and L. Rüttinger (2016). ⁴⁴Van Ackern, P. et al. (2023). ⁴⁵Buderath, M. et al. (2021).

Social cohesion and identity

Climate change impacts can erode social cohesion which leaves people less able to cope with shocks posed by both climate change and conflict.⁴⁶

TREND

Climate change will continue to be both a symptom and cause of declining social connection and community cohesion which poses an obstacle to both peace and climate resilience. Climate will continue to be co-opted by political groups to fuel political tribalism which can hamper climate action and fuel political grievances, particularly in the West, whilst the loss of social bonds due to climate stress or climate-related mobility can also drive conflict.

Social cohesion – the social fabric of a community, linked to shared values, identity and sense of belonging – has been increasingly recognised as important in relation to development, conflict, and human mobility, and now most recently, to climate change. Research is increasingly documenting how climate impacts and climate-related mobility are impacting social cohesion – both positively and negatively. Negative climate-related impacts to social cohesion include those to social relations and support networks. Climate-related stress has, for example, undermined systems of mutual support that strengthen social bonds within a community, provide improved livelihood outcomes, or provide coping mechanisms, e.g. through customary food sharing in times of need, or credit-sharing schemes.47

Positive social cohesion outcomes have also been documented. For example, extreme weather events have catalysed **community mobilisation and mutual support**. This reaffirms other examples of increased forms of social cohesion in times of crisis, both in the aftermath of extreme events and conflict-related displacement.

Climate policy and programming interventions can negatively affect social cohesion, especially when there are **perceptions of unfairness** between groups, and should avoid reproducing existing forms of marginalisation and inequality. Within the international response, social cohesion is linked to climate change and response through 'loss and damage,' as a form of non-economic losses and damages. This was previously fairly limited, for instance under fields of cultural heritage and indigenous local knowledge. But emerging findings indicate it is a broader issue, also linked to additional aspects of loss and damages including mobility, identity, culture, mental health and sense of place.⁴⁸

Recognition of negative impacts to social cohesion as non-economic losses places more emphasis on the intrinsic value of social cohesion, rather than its instrumental value in improving **livelihoods** and resilience. Both are important for communities and response efforts.

Losses and damages are also recognised as highly context- and value-based, which is very much the case for social cohesion. A context-specific value-based approach will likely support more relevant and successful efforts to assess and address losses of social cohesion.

Responses must take a **people centred approach** over a techno-fix centred one and consider power structures that enable vulnerabilities. **Participatory approaches, co-production with local communities,** using data that is broken down by detailed sub-categories in analysis and including affected communities, with particular attention to marginalised groups, in research can lead to locally-anchored responses. ⁴⁹ This approach helps ensure no one is left behind. It is also important to understand the relationships between social cohesion, social protection and climate change mitigation, such as carbon taxes. For example, trust in government is crucial for public support of climate policies. ⁵⁰

 ⁴⁶Vivekananda, J. et al. (2019).
 ⁴⁷Detges, A. and A. Foong (2023).
 ⁴⁸McMurray, S. et al. (2023).
 ⁴⁹Potts, M E. et al. (2023).
 ⁵⁰Klenert, D. et al. (2018)

Evidence and insights from around the world

AFRICA

While Africa is one of the lowest contributors to global greenhouse gas emissions, it is one of the most affected and most vulnerable regions. Climate change has already caused significant harm to biodiversity, water security, food production, life, health, and economic growth on the African continent. It also exacerbates existing political, peace and security, socio-economic and development challenges. Climate security risks are projected to worsen over the coming decades, especially affecting women, children, youth and the elderly.



Natural resource management and livelihoods

There is increasing competition over **natural resources**, leading to tensions and conflicts over **water, fisheries, forests and land** across Africa.⁵¹ Climate impacts are compounding other pressures on natural resources such as land, water and forests. As the access and availability of resources is changing, not only farmer herder conflicts, but also conflicts between **pastoralist groups** or between **farmers and fisherfolk** are major challenges across the continent. Livelihood insecurity sometimes also drives maladaptation and coping mechanisms like deforestation, poaching, illegal fishing and mining.⁵²

In **East Africa**, pastoralism accounts for **75-90 percent of livelihoods** in semi-arid and arid regions.⁵³ The agricultural sector constitutes the most important sector in terms of employment in the region, especially smallholder farmers suffer from climate impacts, all of which can lead to **crop failures** and reliance on food assistance programs.



Food price shocks and food insecurity

Africa's agriculture sector accounts for approximately 35 percent of the continent's gross domestic product, and provides the livelihood of more than 50 percent of the continent's population. These shares are more than double those of the world average and much higher than those of any other emerging region.⁵⁴

Climate impacts have reduced productivity growth

of crops and harvests across all the continent. With nearly 20 percent of its population affected by hunger, Africa has globally the largest percentage of population affected by **food insecurity.**⁵⁵ African food systems are highly dependent on imports and global markets, making them vulnerable to global food price crises.

In **East Africa**, the longest and most severe **drought** on record continued into its fifth rainy season leading to **2.1 million displaced in Somalia, Ethiopia and Kenya.** It has led to severe food insecurity, water shortages, agricultural and livestock losses, and acute humanitarian crises in the region.

Yet, with an abundance of labour, land and untapped water, some African policy makers see the continent has the potential for a **massive expansion of agricultural production.**⁵⁷ With careful climate and conflict investment and upgrading to higher value farming-related commercial activities, agriculture can be the core of the continent's **economic transformation.**



Critical minerals and the energy transition

Approximately 30 percent of the world's mineral reserves necessary for the **energy transition** are in Africa.⁵⁸ Multinational companies exacerbate challenges around governance and natural resource management when they engage in **rent-seeking practices and corruption** that drive environmental degradation.⁵⁹ Revenue generated by mining mainly provide revenue for select elites without generating value locally and creating means for sustainable development. Throughout **Central Africa**, the mining sector is still poorly

⁵¹Rüttinger, L. et al. (2024). (forthcoming) ⁵²Foong, A. et al. (2020). Scales and Friess (2019). Rüttinger, Rüttinger, L. et al. (2024). (forthcoming) ⁵³Whitaker, E. and A. Steinkraus (2023). ⁵⁴Ruettinger, L. et al. (2024). (forthcoming) ⁵⁵FAO et al. (2023). ⁵⁶Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre (2023). ⁵⁷H.E. Musalia Mudavadi, Prime Cabinet Secretary, Republic of Kenya, BCSC Nairobi Opening Statements, 6 July 2023. ⁵⁸South African Institute of International Affairs (2022). ⁵⁹Sonno (2023). Rüttinger, L. et al. (2024). (forthcoming)

regulated and is a key driver of human rights violations and conflict.⁶⁰

水林

Migration and displacement

Seasonal, circular, cross border, and short-term migration are a long-standing practice in many African countries. Overall, the type of migration that is most impacted by climate change is migration within countries. Cross-border migration is also mainly contained within the same region.⁶¹ As climate risks increase, these patterns shift to longer, more permanent southward and rural-urban migration. With respect to conflict potential of these trends, there are significant regional differences: while member states of ECOWAS⁶² can move freely and integrate into local labour markets, there have been many instances of anti-migrant and refugee violence in Tunisia. There have also been conflict dynamics over resource scarcity with African island states in the south-west Indian Ocean. Fast growing cities are emerging as climate security hotspots throughout the continent.63

血

Governance and maladaptation

Non-state armed groups actively exploit climate security risks and governance issues. Where state institutions are weak and corrupt, non-state armed groups such as militias, terrorist and criminal groups can use the gaps left by the state to provide services and governance. In **Somalia**, Al Shabaab has been increasingly restricted humanitarian aid activities in communities affected by droughts and exploited local resources to further consolidate power.⁶⁴ In **central Mali**, armed groups have established themselves as providers of conflict resolution mechanisms and access to justice for disputes over natural resources. 65 In the past, the Ahlu Sunnah wa-I-Jama'ah has offered their own religious education in attempt to gain legitimacy, especially among youth, in marginalised and poverty-stricken areas of northern Mozambique.66

In North West Nigeria, in the face of decreasing crop yields, unpredictable precipitation, droughts, and increasing demands on grazing and agricultural lands, both agrarian and pastoralist groups are increasingly unable to pursue traditional livelihoods. In rural areas, informal mining is an important means of income diversification for many farmers, and addressing both agriculture

and mining issues is necessary for lasting impacts on development. In areas with distinct dry and rainy seasons, artisanal mining allows farmers to generate income during the dry seasons while farming during the rainy season. Due to declining value of many export crops, loss of agriculture input subsidies, and changing weather patterns, off-season workers increasingly rely on mining. On the other hand, informal and formal mining industries impact and are impacted by climate change. Mine operations, and associated **deforestation**, are contributors to greenhouse gas emissions and fuel concerns over water scarcity and increasing threats to tailings dams from extreme weather events. Mining can thus be a driver of climate risk and a source or climate resilience, but the issue is insufficiently analysed and there is little support for artisanal miners to support better, safer and more environmentally sustainable practices.



Early warning and early action

African actors, at different levels, have developed early warning and early action systems. However, only approximately 40 percent of African countries have functioning early warning systems because of **poor access to and availability of reliable data.** ⁶⁷ Challenges include limitations in hydro-meteorological infrastructure and services and multi-hazard monitoring capacities, horizontal siloes, lack of harmonisation between climate and weather-focused early warning and conflict early warning, vertical integration and integration of local knowledge and data. ⁶⁸

⁶⁰WWF (2023). Rüttinger, L. et al. (2024). (forthcoming) ⁶¹Africa Center for Strategic Studies (2023). Rüttinger, L. et al. (2024). (forthcoming) ⁶²ECOWAS member states include Benin, Burkina Faso, Cabo Verde, Cote d'Ivoire, The Gambia, Ghana, Guinea, Guinea-Bissau, Liberia, Mali, Niger, Nigeria, Senegal, Sierra Leone and Togo. ⁶³Rüttinger, L. et al. (2024). (forthcoming) ⁶⁴Maystadt, J.-F. and O. Ecker (2014). ⁶⁵Ursu, A.-E. (2018). ⁶⁶Hamming, T. R. (2021). Pirio, G. et al. (2019). ⁶⁷United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (2022). ⁶⁸Rüttinger, L. et al. (2023).

PACIFIC

Climate change impacts, including sea-level rise and coastal erosion, pose significant security risks across the Pacific region, and to the 12 million people who live there, proceeding at an even faster rate than the global average. Climate impacts are affecting governance, identity and culture, livelihoods, social cohesion, migration, food security, water security and health. Many efforts in the Pacific region are centred around the 2018 Boe Declaration on Regional Security, which specifically describes climate change as the "single greatest threat to the livelihoods, security and well-being of the peoples of the Pacific."



Livelihoods

75 percent of Pacific Islanders will be directly impacted by climate effects on subsistence economies -in some remote communities, it could affect 100 percent of people. **Economic challenges** include small markets, geographic remoteness, high import and transportation costs, low formal sector opportunities and high informal sector participation, high unemployment and reliance on foreign aid. As a result of these challenges, governments often feel pressure to find alternative income streams and diversify their economies. This can include developing alternatives that come with them their own social and environmental risks, such as expanding mining or **seizing land** in favour of private businesses.

Negatively impacted fisheries and agricultural activities increase livelihood insecurity and erode social cohesion, which affects women, the (urban) youth and remote communities disproportionately.



Environmental degradation and biodiversity

Commercial fisheries face low stocks of fish because of warming seas and increasing ocean acidification. Reefs are in particular under threat with coral reef cover around the main island of Upolu in **Samoa** was below 1 percent cover at half of the sites that were explored, compared to below 10 percent at three-fourths of the sites explored 2 years prior. In addition to the livelihood impacts coupled with coastal erosion and human activities, ecosystems and biodiversity are also negatively impacted. Biodiversity loss also has

negative consequences for the region's rich natural beauty, which drives the tourism economy. Climate change induced disasters also make it difficult for businesses to operate.

When done incorrectly, efforts to reclaim land and provide relief in urban areas can contribute to ecological degradation (i.e. dredging and sea walls can lead to increased coastal erosion). Loss in land intersects and worsens food and water security and health risks, as increased food insecurity creates reliance on imports, which are often low in nutrition and high in calories.



Social cohesion and identity

The combination of climate-related challenges, such as scarcer natural resources and livelihood challenges are increasingly overwhelming social norms and eroding social cohesion. The degree by which Pacific Island States are affected, however, is varied. For instance, while precipitation patterns are likely to continue to decreases in French Polynesia and the southern subtropics, they are likely to continue to increases in the northwest and southwest Pacific. From all the Pacific Islands, low-lying atoll nations, such as Kiribati, Tuvalu and the Republic of the Mar**shall Islands,** are at particular risk for sea-level rise. If left unexplored and unaddressed, these interactions could cause further social discord, leading to **social or political instability**, or even violent conflict.

Land is intrinsically tied to the self for Pacific Islanders and customs, norms, rituals, and traditions are embedded within that land and its food and water systems. Increased livelihood pressure, food and water insecurity are putting pressure on livelihoods and eroding social cohesion. Throughout the Pacific, social norms like collectivism **and sharing** are also weakening under these pressures. As social ties within families erode, higher instances of domestic violence can also be observed.



Migration and displacement

Historically, socio-economic factors, including access to education, employment and health services, have driven mobility within the Pacific. Migration tends to be internal and from rural areas to urban settings, increasing urbanisation

and challenges associated with it like less land availability and usability, straining water and food resources and an increase in petty crime and straining of social ties.⁶⁹ Climate change and its impacts are increasingly becoming a factor in migration. **Sea-level rise, coastal erosion, and extreme weather events,** such as storm surges, droughts, and flooding, adversely affect the availability and usability of land for the vast majority of people in the region.

97 percent of Pacific Islanders live within 10km of the coast -and 30 percent live within 1 km of the coast. In addition to worsening **food and water insecurity** and exacerbating tensions (especially within families where land is often shared with extended families), growing competition over land also limits availability for disaster displacement or relocation.

The cost of migration is high and comes with challenges and risks, which can increase disparities, increase vulnerabilities and also create tensions between people who are able to move and those who are not. Over 70 percent of households in **Kiribati** think international migration will become a necessary adaptation response. This reinforces challenges to **identity**, **wellbeing and community**, as Pacific Islanders have strong physical, socio-cultural and ancestral connections to land.

Climate justice and solidarity

Disasters driven by climate change can lead to **high debt burdens**, as countries in the Pacific need to finance disaster preparedness, response and recovery. Government inability to prepare for these things can create an economic situation where trade-offs between social investment and preparing for disasters and recovery, which can **fracture social cohesion and grievances**. Economic losses per year that result from climate-induced disasters in Pacific Small Island Developing States is estimated to be USD \$1.075 billion, which is 5 percent of combined GDP, and in the most affected states, average annual losses can be 20.67 percent of

GDP. Countries in the Pacific have been long-time advocates for **climate justice**, specifically through financial support. As debt burdens increase across the Pacific, instruments like the **loss and damage fund** and UNGA resolution 77/276 on the obligations of States in respect of climate change⁷¹ could be two ways to support climate justice.

⁶⁹McMurray, S. et al. (2023). ⁷⁰McMurray, S. et al. (2023).

⁷¹UNGA (2023).

LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN

While the climate crisis poses wide-reaching, complex issues for Latin America, the region's key challenges can be broken into two major pillars. First, gradual impacts such as the melting Andean glaciers and the degradation of the Amazon rainforests disrupt productive patterns and **socio-economic structures.** On the other hand, climate variability leads to unpredictable weather patterns and more frequent extreme weather events. Unsustainable resource management could exacerbate these challenges, particularly in the Andean, Amazon, and Central American regions.⁷² In the Caribbean, most countries, which consist of small island developing states, have long experienced the impacts of hurricanes, severe weather events, drought and sea level rise, which are adding to the pressure of population growth and urbanisation on land, food, water and energy resources.73



Livelihoods

Inadequate disaster risk management and the impacts of climate change are driving people in Haiti to find alternative livelihoods, that often have social and environmental risks. Many farmers in Haiti are forced to resort to agricultural practices that are unsustainable or damaging to the environment, like slash-and-burn farming that drives deforestation, soil degradation and biodiversity loss. As it becomes increasingly difficult for people to live off agriculture, they face the need to move from rural areas to urban centres and finding new livelihoods all together. Since 2021, **urban violence** has reached extreme levels, as competition over lessening resources and overcrowding in slums with poor water, hygiene and sanitation and gangs, some Haitians have begun to return to rural areas, further increasing pressure on resources.74



Environmental degradation and biodiversity

The **Amazon** faces a twin crisis of human rights and the environment.⁷⁵ The inefficient implementation of the peace treaty with the Revolutionary Armed Forces (FARC) in **Colombia** created a power vacuum that enabled land grabbing and unsustainable **exploitation of natural resources**.

Simultaneously, the impacts of climate change have increased unpredictability in rainfall patterns, soil degradation, floods and higher temperatures. The Colombian case shows how **environmental degradation** reinforces insecurity while climate change's impact on livelihoods drives people towards **illegal coping mechanisms**.

In **Haiti**, political economic and humanitarian crises along with a history of poor **natural resource management and colonial exploitation** have led to environmental degradation, which push people into harmful practices, including environmental crimes, and worsen competition over natural resources. Environmental degradation also drives internal and external migration. ⁷⁶ In **Haiti**, migration is not only a geographic phenomenon of flows of people from rural to urban areas (and vice versa) or leaving the country entirely. **Migration** between subsistence systems has increased because of the impacts of climate change, meaning many Haitians can be described as climate migrants. ⁷⁷



Migration and displacement

In Latin America, rural-urban migration or international migration, in the search for economic opportunities, contributes to marginalisation and social tensions in host communities. The lack of opportunities increases the probability of engaging in criminal activity and insecurity in cities.

Being part of the Central American Dry Corridor, **El Salvador** faces irregular rainfall, drought, poverty, lack of opportunity, violence, and insecurity. Weak governance and limited capacity to adapt leave **vulnerable rural populations** neglected. As a source of remittances, **emigration** to the United States has been a key adaptation strategy.⁷⁸



Social cohesion and identity

Poverty and marginalisation, through the unequal distribution of aid by state services, whether real or perceived, can contribute to **social tensions**. A rising tension between creating revenue from

⁷²Morales Muños, H. C. (2022). ⁷³Fuller, C. et al. (2021). ⁷⁴Schmelzer, N. and B. Mosello (2023). ⁷⁵Buderath, M. et al. (2021). ⁷⁶Mosello, B. et al. (2023). ⁷⁷Schmelzer, N. and B. Mosello (2023).

environmentally and socially harmful practices to sustain economic growth and the necessity of mitigation and **adaptation strategies**. Food insecurity, unemployment and poverty, can lead to involvement in illegal economies, social unrest, migration and resource competition.⁷⁹

In **Guatemala**, indigenous peoples are disproportionately affected by climate change. Due to their ethnicity, gender, and low income, their livelihoods, social cohesion, and identity is at stake. 80 However, indigenous women, being custodians of ancestral knowledge, are emerging as front-line environmental defenders advocating for **adaptation through indigenous practices** such as seed exchange, agricultural calendar adjustments, and the milpa system, cultivating maize alongside other species.

In **Haiti**, as people are driven to leave their communities and families by the pressures of climate change and environmental degradation, coping mechanisms that were built on **social cohesion** and mutual aid are worn down, leading to less capacity to withstand climate security risks.⁸¹



Critical minerals and the energy transition

Critical mechanisms for mitigating the adverse impacts of these minerals include advanced planning, early action for adaptation and inclusive economic development based on sustainable resource governance. Moreover, **Responsible Business Conduct** (RBC) could prevent conflicts arising from the increased demand for **critical minerals** in Latin America. ⁸² As a substantial amount of identified lithium, which is crucial for renewable energy, is found in the region, it plays a significant role in the global green transition. Effective **environmental management systems** are essential to avoid maladaptation and ensure sustainable mining practices.

MIDDLE EAST AND NORTH AFRICA

As well as one of the regions most affected by violent conflict globally, the Middle East and North Africa (MENA)83 is one of the most vulnerable regions in the world to climate change.84 The Middle East is warming at almost twice the rate of the global average with temperature increases in many countries, like Jordan, Yemen, Saudi Arabia, and others, already well surpassing the Paris Agreement's commitments keep warming to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels.85

Its natural water scarcity is being exacerbated by climate-induced record low levels of rainfall, increases in temperature, and exposure to heatwaves that drive desertification and reduce water supply. With its high reliance on food imports and significant portions of its agriculture being rainfed, the region is vulnerable to price volatility and food insecurity, with protests and political conflict frequently erupting over the price of food.86 Meanwhile, weak economies, competing government interests, fractured populations, and inter-state tensions limit the capacity of many MENA states to both mitigate and adapt to climate change.87 Conflict in the region, including the Syrian Civil War, the occupation of Iraq by ISIS, and decades of Israeli-Palestinian conflict has led to significant and long-term displacement.88



Critical minerals and the energy transition

The MENA region is recognised for its extensive fossil fuel reserves, providing revenue to countries but opening the region to risks of stranded assets in the global energy transition. Fossil fuel exports accounted for over 25 percent of GDP in the region in 2016.90 This figure is even higher for individual countries, with Iraq receiving 85 percent of its government revenues through oil exports.91 Without a strategic diversification of revenues, the global energy transition will be highly destabilising for oil exporting countries, posing a risk of stranded assets and economic losses. 92 Lost revenues for social spending and reduced geopolitical influence are risks to regional stability.93



Food price shocks and food insecurity

Food insecurity is a major pathway linking climate change impacts to instability and conflict in MENA. **Price volatility of food supplies** is of particular concern. For example, widespread, consecutive years of drought across crop-growing areas in the region conjunction drove price volatility and migration, leading people to take to the streets in protest during the Arab Spring, which, when met with authoritarian clamp down and exploitation by non-state armed groups, contributed to increased regional instability, including civil wars.94

In **Iraq** agricultural productivity dropped from 26 percent of GDP in 1995 to 6 percent in 2020, during which time the country has shifted from a food-producing to food-importing country.95 Contributing to this transition was rural community **displacement** during the rise of the Islamic State and crises in Iraq and Syria. 6 As of 2020, 731,000 out of the 6 million people affected by conflict in **Iraq** were food insecure.⁹⁷ Major drought in 2021 led to approximately half of families requiring food assistance.98 Agricultural problems and **food insecurity** threaten security by negatively impacting livelihoods and unemployment, driving migration and contributing to political unrest.99



Migration and displacement

By 2050, it is expected that 723.6 million people will live in the MENA region, more than double the number at the beginning of the 21st century. 100 While high populations do not pose a security threat in and of themselves, the combination of very high numbers of people with climate impacts poses a severe risk to human security. Ruralurban migration is likely to increase, a significant challenge as the Middle East is already one of the

83The Africa chapter 3.1 also covers the region of North Africa. However, the region is also included in this chapter 3.4, as many analyses include North Africa along with the Middle East, this synthesis report has done the same. 84Giordano, G. and L. Rüttinger (2021). 85The World Bank (2023) 86 Bentley, R. et al. (2022). 87 Giordano, G. and L. Rüttinger (2021) 88 Binder, L. et al. (2022a). 89 IRENA (2019). 90 Ibid. 91 Binder, L.isa et al., (2022a). 92 Ibid 93 IRENA (2019). 94Devlen, L. et al. (2022). 95Binder, L. et al. (2022a). 96Ibid. 97Ibid. 98Ibid. 99Giordano, G. and L.s Rüttinger (2021). 100Statista (2020).

most urbanised areas in the world. Moreover, these cities are concentrated along the region's coast and are therefore highly vulnerable to sea level rise. Pressure is likely to increase on resources such as water, food, and land, increasing competition.

Ten years of civil war, in combination with recurring extreme weather events, has led to the internal **displacement of approximately 4.5 million**Yemenis, 13 percent of the total population. ¹⁰¹ A matter of human security in itself, displacement has had several other consequences for climaterelated security in Yemen. Tensions have arisen between landowners and displaced communities, a problem set to rise as desertification further reduces the availability of arable land. A lack of strategy on the placement of migrant camps has also been a serious problem, with settlements built in areas that formerly protected communities from floods naturally, exacerbating floods and driving further displacement.

The occupation of **Iraq** by ISIS from 2014 to 2017 led to the **internal displacement** of 3 million Iraqis, with a further 260,000 people seeking refuge in neighbouring states. ¹⁰² Environmental factors have subsequently driven further displacement in the country, with more than 21,000 Iraqis from southern and central Iraq leaving their homes in July 2019 due to water shortages. Rural-urban migration is also growing in **Iraq**, with a lack of available jobs exposing vulnerable populations to **armed group recruitment**, and other security risks.

Jordan is a major receiving country for displaced persons in the region, particularly refugees from the wars in Iraq and Syria, with more than 676,000 Syrian refugees officially registered as of 2022. 103 Other estimates put this figure is much higher, with approximately 1.3 million Syrian refugees in Jordan and a further 1.5 million in Lebanon. 104 The large refugee population puts strain on limited natural resources and public services in Jordan. 105

46

Water governance

Water stress is a critical challenge in MENA region. **Jordan** ranks fifth globally in level of water stress. ¹⁰⁶ Jordan's per capita water availability in 2030 is estimated to be between 5-38 percent of the threshold for water scarcity under different emissions scenario. ¹⁰⁷ Climate models

also predict decreases in **annual precipitation** of 2–20 mm by 2030 under a medium-high emissions scenario¹⁰⁸ As more than half of Jordan's agricultural land is rainfed, this is worrying for **agricultural production.**¹⁰⁹

Meanwhile, the portion of agricultural land that is irrigated is a major consumer of water, with more than half of Jordan's freshwater resources going to the sector, putting significant strain on limited water resources. Achieving climate-smart agriculture that is resilient to changes in precipitation and efficient in use of water resources is needed as the sector employs a quarter of the population, making it critical for livelihoods. 111

Regional water sharing agreements exist between Jordan and both Syria and Israel, but tensions remain over water withdrawals, with Jordan negatively affected by upstream water development projects. 112 Water flow in the lower Jordan River has declined by nearly 90 percent as a result of Israel's upstream water management. 113 Israel and Jordan signed a water for energy agreement in November 2021, under which Jordan is to provide 600 megawatts of solar energy to Israel in exchange for 200 million m3 of desalinated water. 114

In contrast, in another major transboundary river basin in the region, the **Euphrates and Tigris river basin**, has been a flashpoint of regional tension between Turkey, Iraq, Syria and Iran. **Iraq** is a downstream water recipient and the supply of water reaching it has declined in the past decades due to the construction of dams and power plants in **Turkey** and **Syria**, contribution to regional tensions over **transboundary water management**. Meanwhile, water has been routinely weaponised by powerful states, with Turkey withholding Syria's water supply during conflicts. 116

¹⁰¹Barry, S. et al. (2023). ¹⁰²Binder, L. et al. (2022a). ¹⁰³Binder, L. et al. (2022b). ¹⁰⁴Binder, L. et al. (2022a). ¹⁰⁵Bentley, R. et al. (2022). ¹⁰⁶Ibid. ¹⁰⁷Ibid. ¹⁰⁸Ibid. ¹⁰⁹Ibid. ¹¹⁰Binder, L. et al. (2022b). ¹¹¹Ibid. ¹¹²Ibid. ¹¹³Ibid. ¹¹⁴Ibid. ¹¹⁵Ibid. ¹¹⁶The Water Diplomat (2021).

9 Opportunities to strengthen peace and resilience in a changing climate



1. Global financial reform, climate justice and solidarity

The establishment of the loss and damage fund at COP27, the declaration on climate, relief, recovery and peace at COP28 and action-oriented multilateral initiatives like Climate for Peace reflect opportunities to address the disproportionate impacts of climate change on countries and people who have emitted the least, make needs clear and match the supply and demand for implementing projects. Investments in climate finance for fragile and conflict affected countries, in addition to pursuing climate justice, present an opportunity to yield peace dividends. 117

High income countries should demonstrate solidarity by meeting the \$100 billion climate finance commitment to the loss and damage fund, further increase the scale of financing and conducting monitoring and evaluation to ensure the intended impacts are being achieved. 118 An accountability mechanism on multilateral climate action should be developed to increase trust in the system. 119 Finally, climate finance should be made accessible to fragile states where it is greatly needed, to avoid widening gaps in access. 120 Commitments and pledges made by institutions like the Green Climate Fund, the Islamic Development Bank and the World Bank at the launch of the declaration on climate, relief, recovery and peace at COP28 to deliver more climate finance to fragile contexts as well simplifying the process, making it quicker and easier to access funds need to be realised. The interests of affected states and communities also need to be elevated in international processes like COP and in climate security discourse, including analysis and research design.



2. Critical minerals, environmental degradation and biodiversity

Given the expected six-fold increase in demand, governments should ensure conflict sensitivity is a requirement for all climate financing for clean energy to mitigate the risks associated with environmental degradation and conflict over water, land use, and lack of community participation.

This can be done through measures like establishing Responsible Business Conduct (RBC) frameworks. RBC in the extractive and minerals sector with **risk-based due diligence** can anticipate and avoid environmental degradation and conflicts, and provide a channel for community engagement¹²¹. In the absence of government frameworks, the private sector itself should pursue RBC to secure a social license to operate.

States should further pursue **equitable benefit sharing** of the revenues generated through mining¹²² operations by investing revenue in social spending, poverty reduction, and local infrastructure in communities affected by mining. Examples include Colombia earmarking 10 percent of mining royalties for research and development and Peru reserving 20 percent of its "mining canon" financial mechanism for regional universities.¹²³

In addressing environmental degradation, it is important to avoid context-insensitive, top-down approaches and be aware of customary law around land management. 124 This helps ensure any environmental or natural resource management projects are aligned with existing systems, and are inclusive, conflict- and gender-sensitive to maximise local stakeholder, in many cases Indigenous, ownership. Pursuing programmes that both restore the environment and offer alternative livelihood opportunities is another opportunity. Regreening programmes such as tree planting and agroforestry can restore soils and ecosystems and limit the effects drought, flooding, and water runoff, building local resilience to climate-related shocks.125



3. Food prices, agriculture and livelihoods

To mitigate the risks of climate-induced declines in agricultural productivity and increases in food prices and price volatility contributing to instability in fragile contexts, investment in

 ¹¹⁷ Devlen, L. et al. (2022). ¹¹⁸Ibid. ¹¹⁹Ibid. ¹²⁰Ibid. ¹²¹OECD (2022). ¹²²Morales Muñoz, H. C. et al. (2023). ¹²³Ibid.
 ¹²⁴Destrijcker, L. et al. (2023a). ¹²⁵Ibid.

climate-smart agriculture should be pursued. Governments should take a forward-looking approach to anticipate potential price spikes and take early action to safeguard against them, for example with **regional governance mechanisms** that define responses ahead of crisis situations. 126

Linking adaptation of food systems and livelihoods to peacebuilding can increase resilience and sustainable peace. Investments in **livelihood strategies**, like all activities related to and support pastoralism, including **regenerative agriculture models**, as well as environmental and ecosystem restoration are needed. ¹²⁷ Livelihood diversification should also be pursued to build resilience of people working in climate-sensitive sectors such as agriculture and pastoralism. A portfolio of sustainable livelihood options should be promoted, for example more diverse and climate-resilient crop varieties, agropastoralism and agroforestry, and a range of vocational training options. ¹²⁸

4. Migration, displacement and livelihoods

Reponses to increased climate-related displacement should centre around supporting climateproof livelihoods and safe migration with dignity, taking into special consideration, the protection needs of women, children and people with disabilities. Investment in climate adaptation and infrastructure in regions susceptible to climate-induced displacement can enhance the resilience of communities and reduce pressures129 to migrate. For example, transportation infra**structure** that builds connections to markets supports livelihoods and the movement of people and goods, while infrastructure for climate-smart agriculture can support food security and reduce migration pressures. Investment should also be made in early warning systems to allow communities to proactively and safely manage fast-onset weather events. Expanding participation in social protection and insurance schemes can further build resilience. 130

For populations that have been displaced, provision of basic services and social protections, for example through **cash or food transfers**, can support resilience and peace, as these groups often face high levels of vulnerability and have lower levels of social capital. For communities that temporarily move through areas—migrants and pastoralists, among others—facilitating the adoption of agreed rules for **natural resource management**

among communities can reduce intercommunal conflict and enable safe migration.¹³²

As displacement increasingly occurs to cities, it also provides opportunities for inclusion. Historically, urban areas have been designed for and by men. **Inclusive and participatory urban planning** that considers the needs of carers, women, girls and people with disabilities can accelerate economic and social inclusion. Some specific areas include aspects related to health and hygiene, safety, access, climate resilience, among others.



5. Natural resource management and livelihoods

Natural resource management and governance can be a tool for sustainable development, building resilience, increasing social cohesion and driving peace. Policy makers can actively engage pastoral communities and increase their agency by involving them in developing and implementing policies and ensuring **representation** at relevant national and international fora. ¹³⁴ Supporting existing **indigenous knowledge strategies** – for example, through social system support, early warning systems based on long-term observation of astral bodies and stewardship of animals and plants – can increase resilience and should be a key focus of policy makers.

Local acceptance, ownership and partnerships can be strengthened through natural resource management by promoting **flexible and communal systems of governance** for grazing and water sources as well as promoting bottom-up approaches and **linking customary pastoralist institutions and practices with formal government actors.** Natural resource sharing agreements between different actors (i.e. (agro)pastoralists and farmers, among (agro)pastoralists and between refugees, internally displaced persons and host communities) should also be facilitated via both **formal and informal mechanisms** to foster social cohesion and manage conflicts.¹³⁵

¹²⁶Devlen, L. et al. (2022). ¹²⁷Whitaker, E. and A. Steinkraus (2023). ¹²⁸Destrijcker, L. et al. (2023a). ¹²⁹Whitaker, E. (2023). ¹³⁰Ibid. ¹³¹Ibid. ¹³²Nagarajan, C. et al. (2022). ¹³³Terraza, H. et al. (2020). ¹³⁴Destrijcker, L. et al. (2023b). ¹³⁵Destrijcker, L. et al. (2023b).



6. Water cooperation

Of central importance in preventing water-related conflict is encouraging **transboundary water sharing agreements** and supporting transboundary institutions in developing **inclusive and flexible governance mechanisms.** ¹³⁶ Beyond reaching agreements for today's water resources, water governance needs to take a forward-looking approach that anticipates future changes in water access and how these changes could affect or create marginalised groups to pre-empt conflict¹³⁷. This can be supported through **locally-informed integrated analysis** on how climate risks compound existing, and create new, challenges to human security. ¹³⁸

It is important to take a holistic approach that links water security to climate adaptation of food systems and livelihoods. Technical solutions such as **irrigation infrastructure and water capture and harvesting systems** play a role, but on a broader level, water policies and global food system policies should be linked to support synergies. 140

The voices of those most affected should be amplified to ensure **inclusive involvement in** water governance processes.¹⁴¹ Barriers to women's participation should be removed, with actions such as offering training opportunities, scheduling meetings with childcare, setting targets for the participation of women, collecting gender-disaggregated data, and providing gender training to dialogue facilitators to create a more inclusive environment and awareness among male colleagues.¹⁴²



7. Governance and climate policy as peacebuilding

Policy makers and practitioners should integrate approaches by linking environmental and climate action with peacebuilding efforts. In areas of weak governance, working directly with communities and using a bottom up approach become even more critical, especially in peacebuilding. Given the contribution of climate change to conflict and insecurity, peacebuilding practitioners should integrate ways of building resilience to climate risks into their work to ensure a sustainable peace. Addressing climate security risks also has the potential to bring communities together

over **shared environmental and resource chal-lenges** and offer an incentive for parties in conflict to engage in peaceful conflict resolution.¹⁴⁴

To support these efforts, practitioners need **climate security foresight and analysis**, as well as contextual information on local conflict dynamics, for example through stakeholder mapping and conflict analysis. ¹⁴⁵ The environmental peacebuilding community of practice should be strengthened and the research base in the field expanded with the exchange of information, tools and analysis. ¹⁴⁶



8. Social cohesion and identity

In addition to physical threats, **existential threats to identity and culture** belong in a common understanding of human security as they increase **societal tensions** and challenge peaceful coexistence. Efforts to build social cohesion and preserve areas and practices that are culturally significance are an important opportunity to build resilience and peace in a changing climate.

When designing projects and policy interventions, it is crucial to consider how effects differ across segments of the population. **Unequal access to or distribution of benefits** can create tensions, undermining the success of peacebuilding efforts. ¹⁴⁷ Such unequal access can occur, for example, when multiple actors are providing support services in the same context, leading to **different requirements or quantities of cash transfers, food aid, or other benefits.** ¹⁴⁸ Coordination among implementing organisations to standardise benefits is therefore an important step. ¹⁴⁹

Within an individual intervention, consideration of any variations in the access of communities is also needed. Local stakeholder involvement throughout project development and implementation can help build support and identify

¹³⁶Binder, L. et al. (2022b). ¹³⁷Whitaker, E. et al. (2023). ¹³⁸Mosello, B. and A. Steinkraus (2023). ¹³⁹Whitaker, E. et al. (2023). ¹⁴⁰Whitaker, E. et al. (2023). Mosello, B. and A. Steinkraus (2023). ¹⁴Mosello, B. and A. Steinkraus (2023). ¹⁴²Sarkissian, H. (2021). ¹⁴³Weathering Risk (2023). ¹⁴⁴Ibid. ¹⁴⁵Destrijcker, L. et al. (2023a). ¹⁴⁶Kurnoth, H. E. and J. Vivekananda (2021). ¹⁴⁷Destrijcker, L. et al. (2023a). ¹⁴⁸Ibid. ¹⁴⁹Ibid.

potential issues in advance. ¹⁵⁰ Engagement of local communities leads to **better tailored and more effective outcomes.** ¹⁵¹ This especially includes the **involvement of marginalised groups.** Specifically reaching out to and meaningfully including women, youth, diverse livelihood groups, migrants, and those who often lack access to decision making fora is an important entry point to build social cohesion and ensure interventions are context-sensitive. ¹⁵²



9. Investing in preventative and anticipatory action

As these nine trends continue to affect a growing number of countries around the world, UN Secretary-General António Guterres has explicitly placed climate change as a central aspect of the UN's conflict prevention agenda, and rightly so. Adopting conflict-sensitive prevention approaches while considering the role of climate change in the risk landscape will help ensure action.

Specifically, this would entail: Analysing indirect impacts of climate change; focusing on governance, not just scarcity; building up foresight capacities; assessing for maladaptation and inequality; and adopting cross-border responses.

Anticipatory action is another growing area of climate and disaster risk management that emphasizes the use of climate services and risk analyses to predict where crises might strike and enable action to prevent or mitigate impacts before disasters occur.

Whilst there is much value in the approach, most anticipatory action programming is happening in non-conflict situations. The reason for this is because for anticipatory action to work and to be effective to protect people in conflict settings, there needs to be a robust understanding of the impacts of compounding risks and the complex dynamics that armed conflict generates which could jeopardize the design and implementation of anticipatory action.

It is essential to understand how conflict sensitiv-

ity can be applied to anticipatory action, in order to follow the principles of do no harm and ensure that anticipatory action does not contribute to any existing tensions in a given context.

Climate change is a risk to peace. Evidence-based responses will help weather the storm. This synthesis report outlines the ways climate change is shaping peace and security as well as evidence and insights from different regions around the world. While the outlook can appear bleak, that makes it all the most vital to develop analysis, trainings and tools to facilitate risk-informed planning and identify opportunities to strengthen peace and resilience.

In its second phase, Weathering Risk will continue to build this evidence base and expand to newer and lesser analysed geographies, help bridge the science-policy gap, build more capacity for action and improve operational responses.

 $^{^{150}\}mbox{Ibid.}\ ^{151}\mbox{Sikorsky, E. and B. Hugh (2023).}\ ^{152}\mbox{Nagarajan, C. et al. (2022).}$

Annex I: List of Weathering Risk publications by region and theme

Africa

Africa Climate Security Risk Assessment (forthcoming)

Africa Climate Security Risk Assessment: Executive Summary

Climate, Peace and Security Assessment: Mali (also available in French)

Climate Security Study: Kenya

Climate, Peace and Security Study: Uganda, West Nile sub-region

Climate, Peace and Security Study:

Somalia Region, Ethiopia

Climate Risk Profile: Somalia

Climate Risk Profile: Eastern Africa Climate Risk Profile: Southern Africa

Entry points and priorities for MINUSMA to address environmental and climate security in Mali

Key climate security actors and frameworks in Eastern Africa

Building climate and conflict resilient livelihoods and food systems: Insights from East Africa

Integrating Climate Security into Policy: Roadmap for Somalia

Pacific and Asia

Pacific Climate Security Assessment Guide

Climate Security Risk Assessment: Kiribati (forthcoming)

Climate Security Risk Assessment: Republic of the Marshall Islands

Climate Security Risk Assessment: Tuvalu (forthcoming)

Latin America and the Caribbean

Roots for Peace: Uncovering climate security challenges in Haiti and what to do about them (also available in French)

Middle East

Climate, Peace and Security Assessment: Yemen (forthcoming)

Integrating Climate Security into Policy: Roadmap for Jordan

Integrating Climate Security into Policy: Roadmap for Yemen

Integrating Climate Security into Policy: Roadmap for Iraq

Climate Risk Profile: Iraq Climate Risk Profile: Jordan

Cross-regional and thematic reports and papers

10 Insights on Climate Impacts & Peace

Why tackling climate change is vital to peace

Addressing Climate-related Security Risks: Towards a Programme for Action

Synthesis: Climate Security in 3D

Seven questions for the G7 Superforecasting climate-fragility risks for the coming decade

Context matters: A review of the evidence of how social, economic and other variables influence the relationship between climate and security

Next steps towards an inclusive Climate, Peace and Security agenda

Operationalising the Climate, Relief, Recovery and Peace Declaration

Methodology

The Weathering Risk methodology

Weathering Risk Climate Security Risk Assessment Methodology – Guide and Tools (updated)

Climate Security Scenarios

Scenario-based analysis: Levant

Climate Security Scenarios in the Balkans

Quantitative work on climate impact modelling, regression analysis and machine learning (peer-reviewed publications)

A review of climate security risk assessment tools

Inequality and Security in the Aftermath of Internal Population Displacement Shocks: Evidence from Nigeria

Global Food Prices, Local Weather and Migration in Sub-Saharan Africa

Global Trends Between Conflict- and Disaster-induced Displacement and International Migration (forthcoming)

A Meta-Analysis of Climate Migration Literature

Using a Causal Forest to Investigate Treatment Effect Heterogeneity of SPEInShocks on Conflict (forthcoming)

Using Random Forest to Analyze the Effect of Climate Impacts on Conflict (forthcoming)

Multi-model Risk Assessment of Global Food Price Spikes under Future Climate Change (forthcoming)

References

Abdenur, A. E. and L. Rüttinger (2020): Climate-fragility Risk Brief: Latin America and the Caribbean. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://climate-diplomacy.org/magazine/conflict/climate-fragility-risk-brief-latin-america-and-caribbean.

Africa Center for Strategic Studies (2023): African Migration Trends to Watch in 2023. Washington, D.C.: Africa Center for Strategic Studies. Available online at https://africacenter.org/spotlight/african-migration-trends-to-watch-in-2023/#:~:text=African%20migration%20has%20been%20on,expected%20to%20continue%20in%2.

Almond, R.E.A., M. Grooten and T. Petersen (2020): Living Planet Report. Gland: WWF.

Bentley, R., B. Hugh and R. Schoonover (2022): Weathering Risk Scenario-based Analysis: Levant. The International Military Council on Climate and Security Expert Group and the Center for Climate and Security, an institute of the Council on Strategic Risks. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://www.weatheringrisk.org/en/publication/scenar-io-based-analysis-levant.

Binder, L., B. Šedová, L. Rüttinger, J. Tomalka and S. Gleixner (2022a): Climate Risk Profile Iraq. Weathering Risk. Potsdam: PIK. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://weatheringrisk.org/en/publication/Climate-Risk-Profile-Iraq.

Binder, L., B. Šedová, L. Rüttinger, J. Tomalka and S. Gleixner (2022b): Climate Risk Profile Jordan. Weathering Risk. Potsdam: PIK; Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://www.weatheringrisk.org/sites/default/files/document/Climate_Risk_Profile_Jordan.pdf.

Bosetti, V., C. Cattaneo and G., Peri (2018): Should they stay or should they go? Climate Migrants and Local Conflicts. NBER Working Paper, No. 24447. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.

Brondizio, E., S. Diaz, J. Settele and H. T. Ngo (2019): Global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. Bonn: IPBES.

Brown, O. (2019): Climate-Fragility Risk Brief on Afghanistan. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at: https://climate-diplomacy.org/sites/default/files/2023-03/ CSEN_Afghanistan_Risk%20Brief_2019.pdf.

Buderath, M., J. Carlos Garzón, J. Gorricho, D. Ivleva, B. Mosello, L. Rüttinger, K. Schulz and J. Vargas Reina (2021): A dangerous climate: deforestation, climate change and violence against environmental defenders in the Colombian Amazon. Bonn: WWF Germany. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://climate-deforestation-climate-change-and-violence-against-environmental.

Cagoco-Guiam, R. (2013): Gender and Livelihoods Among Internally Displaced Persons in Mindanao, Philippines. The Brookings-London School of Economics Project on Internal Displacement. Available online at https://www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Gender-and-Livelihoods-Among-IDPs-in-Mindanao-Philippines-July-2013.pdf.

Cattaneo, C., M. Beine, C. J. Fröhlich, D. Kniveton, I. Martinez-Zarzoso, M. Mastrorillo, K. Millock, E. Piguet and B. Schraven (2019): Human Migration in the Era of Climate Change. Review of Environmental Economics and Policy, 13(2), pp. 189-206.

Clement, V., K. Kumari Rigaud, A. de Sherbinin, B. Jones, S. Adamo, J. Schewe, N. Sadiq and E. Shabahat (2021): Groundswell Part 2: Acting on Internal Climate Migration. World Bank, Washington, D.C.: http://hdl.handle.net/10986/36248.

Climate Diplomacy Factbook (n.d.): Food price volatility and fragility in the MENA region. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://climate-diplomacy.org/case-studies/food-price-volatility-and-fragility-mena-region.

Climate Diplomacy Podcast (2023): Resilience gone wrong: Maladaptation as a side-effect of neglecting climate vulnerability. Podomatic. Available online at https://www.podomatic.com/podcasts/climate-di-plomacy/episodes/2023-03-23T05_00_30-07_00.

Climate Diplomacy (n.d.): Water Diplomacy. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://climate-diplomacy.cy.org/water-diplo

Destrijcker, L. (2022): Entry points and priorities for MINUSMA to address environmental and climate security in Mali. Weathering Risk. Berlin: adelphi.

Destrijcker, L., M. Kyeyune, J. C. Dieffenbacher and C. Zwar (2023a): Climate, Peace and Security Study: Uganda, West-Nile sub-region. Weathering Risk. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://weatheringrisk.org/en/publication/climate-peace-and-security-study-uganda-west-nile-sub-region.

Destrijcker, L., M. Yishak, M. Thomson, A. Traore, Y. A. Xu and H. Kurnoth (2023b): Climate, Peace and Security Study: Somali Region, Ethiopia. Weathering Risk. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://weatheringrisk.org/sites/default/files/document/Climate_Peace_Security_Study_Somali_Region_Ethiopia.pdf.

Detges, A., D. Klingenfeld, C. König, B. Pohl, L. Rüttinger, J. Schewe, B. Sedova and J. Vivekananda (2020): 10 insights on climate impacts and peace: A summary of what we know. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://weatheringrisk.org/en/publication/10-insights-climate-impacts-peace.

Detges, A., E. Wright and T. Bernstein (2022): A conceptual model of climate change and human mobility interactions. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://climate-diplomacy.org/magazine/conflict/conceptual-model-climate-change-and-human-mobility-interactions.

Detges, A. and A. Foong (2023): Context matters: A review of the evidence of how social, economic, and other variables influence the relationship between climate and security. Published by adelphi. Available online at https://weatheringrisk.org/en/publication/context-matters.

Devlen, L., L. Destrijcker, W. Hatch, M. Hornsby, M. Koehler, H. Kurnoth, D. McCullough, B. Pohl and J. Vivekananda (2022): Seven questions for the G7. Superforecasting climate-fragility risks for the coming decade. Good Judgment. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://weatheringrisk.org/en/media/173.

FAO, IFAD, UNICEF, WFP and WHO (2023): The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World 2023. Urbanization, agrifood systems transformation and healthy diets across the rural—urban continuum. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization. Available online at https://www.fao.org/3/cc3017en/cc3017en.pdf.

FAO (n.d.): Gender. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization. Available online at https://www.fao.org/gender/learning-center/thematic-areas/gender-and-food-security-and-nutrition/.

First Peoples Worldwide (2021): Global Demand for Transition Minerals Requires Immediate Consideration of Indigenous Peoples' Rights throughout Policy and Practice. Available online at <a href="https://www.colorado.edu/program/fpw/2021/12/22/global-demand-transition-minerals-requires-immediate-consideration-indigenous-peoples#:~:text=The%20 long-term%20results%20of%20this%20type%20 of%20mining,land%20defenders%3B%20and%20 trafficking%20of%20women%20and%20children.

FSIN and Global Network against Food Crisis (2023): 2023 Global Report on Food Crises. Rome: GRFC. Available online at https://www.fsinplatform.org/sites/default/files/resources/files/GRFC2023-compressed.pdf.

Foong, A., B. Pohl and L. Rüttinger (2020): Climate-fragility risk brief Sudan. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://climate-diplomacy.org/sites/default/files/2021-01/CSEN%20Climate%20 Fragility%20Risk%20Brief%20Sudan.pdf.

FSIN and Global Network Against Food Crises (2023): 2023 Global report on food crises. Joint analysis for better decisions. Rome: Food Security Information Network.

FSIN and Global Netowkr Against Food Crises (2024): The Global Report on Food Crises 2024. Joint analysis for better decisions. Rome: Food Security Information Network.

Fuller, C., H. E. Kurnoth and B. Mosello (2021): Climate Fragility Risk Brief: The Caribbean. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://climate-fragility-risk-brief-caribbean.

Ginetti, J., P. M. Kam, G. A. Siguan, J. Schewe and L. Milano (2019): Assessing the impacts of climate change on flood displacement risk. IDMC Methodological Paper.

Giordano, G. and L. Rüttinger (2021): Climate-fragility risk brief: Jordan, Palestine and Israel. Berlin: adelphi.

Hamming, T. R. (2021): The Islamic State in Mozambique. Washington, D.C.: Lawfare. Available online at https://www.lawfaremedia.org/article/islamic-state-mozambique.

IEA (2023): Critical Minerals Market Review 2023. Paris: International Energy Agency. Available online at https://www.iea.org/reports/critical-minerals-market-review-2023

IEA (2022): The Role of Critical World Energy Outlook Special Report Minerals in Clean Energy Transitions. Executive Summary. Paris: International Energy Agency. Available online at https://www.iea.org/reports/the-role-of-critical-minerals-in-clean-energy-transitions/executive-summary.

Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre (2023): Global Report on Internal Displacement 2023. Geneva: Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre. Available online at https://www.internaldisplacement.org/global-report/grid2023.

IRENA (2019): A New World: The geopolitics of the energy transformation. Abu Dhabi: International Renewable Energy Agency. Available online at: A New World The Geopolitics of the Energy Transformation (irena.org)

IRENA (2023): Geopolitics of the Energy Transition: Critical Minerals. Abu Dhabi: International Renewable Energy Agency. Available online at: https://www.irena.org/Publications/2023/Jul/Geopolitics-of-the-Energy-Transition-Critical-Materials

Kane, S. and V. Hickey (2023): Improving natural resource management paves the way to peace and inclusion. World Bank Blogs. Available online at: https://blogs.worldbank.org/dev4peace/improving-natural-resource-management-paves-way-peace-and-inclusion.

Klenert, D.; L. Mattauch, E. Combet, O. Edenhofer, C. Hepburn, R. Rafaty and N. Stern (2018): Making carbon pricing work for citizens. Nature Climate Change. Available online at https://www.nature.com/ articles/s41558-018-0201-2.

Kurnoth, H. and J. Vivekananda (2021): Synthesis: Climate Security in 3D. Weathering Risk. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://weatheringrisk.org/en/media/96.

Matiru, V. and A. P. Castro (2022): Natural Resource Management. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Available online at https://www.researchgate.net/publication/360550481_ Conflict_and_Natural_Resource_Management.

Maystadt, J. and O. Ecker (2014): Extreme Weather and Civil War: Does Drought Fuel Conflict in Somalia through Livestock Price Shocks? In American Journal of Agricultural Economics 96 (4), pp. 1157–1182. DOI: 10.1093/ajae/aau010.

Mercy Corps (2020): Addressing the Climate-Conflict Nexus in Fragile States: Understanding the role of governance, Washington, DC: Mercy Corps. Available online at https://www.mercycorps.org/research-resources/climate-conflict-nexus

Minnerop P., N. Roht-Azzaria and S. C. Aminsadeh (2018): 'Solidarity Rights (Development, Peace, Environment, Humanitarian Assistance). Heidelberg: Max Plank Encyclopedia of Public International Law.

Morales Muños, H. C. (2022): Literature review on climate security and environmental peacebuilding: Risks and opportunities in the Andean region. New York: Conflict Prevention and Peace Forum.

Morales Muñoz, H. C., J. Dieffenbacher, R. Munayer and B. Mosello 2023: Climate security and critical minerals mining in Latin America: How can business help? Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://climate-diplomacy.org/magazine/environment/climate-security-and-critical-minerals-mining-latin-america-how-can-business.

Morales Muñoz H. C., L. Martens, K. Löhr, M. Bonatti, J. Chara, L. Perez et al. (2023): Integrating climate mitigation and environmental peacebuilding objectives through sustainable land use systems: Theory of change and indicators. PLOS Clim 2(5): e0000075. Available online at https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pclm.0000075.

Mosello, B., C. König, A. Day and C. Nagarajan (2021): Addressing Climate-related Security Risks: Towards a Programme for Action. Weathering Risk. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://weatheringrisk.org/en/publication/addressing-climate-related-security-risks-towards-programme-action.

Mosello, B. and A. Steinkraus (2023): Water action is climate action: Opportunities for peace post 2023 UN Water Conference. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://climate-diplomacy.org/magazine/cooperation/water-action-climate-action-opportunities-peace-post-2023-un-water-conference.

Mosello, B., L. Destrijcker and S. A. McMurray (2023): Roots for peace: uncovering climate security challenges in Haiti and what to do about them. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://weatheringrisk.org/sites/default/files/document/Roots_for_peace_uncovering_climate_security_challenges_in_Haiti_3.pdf.

Nagarajan, C., L. Binder, L. Destrijcker, S. Michelini, L. Rüttinger, B. Sangaré, B. Šedová, J. Vivekananda and R. Zaatour (2022): Weathering Risk climate, peace and security assessment: Mali. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://weatheringrisk.org/en/publication/climate-peace-and-security-assess-ment-mali.

Nellemann, C., R. Henriksen, R. Pravettoni, D. Stewart, M. Kotsovou, M.A.J. Schlingemann, M. Shaw, T. Reitano (2018): World atlas of illicit flows. Lyon: INTERPOL. New York: RIPHTO.

Nett, K. and L. Rüttinger (2016): Insurgency, Terrorism and Organised Crime in a Warming Climate. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://climate-diplomacy.org/sites/default/files/2020-10/CD%20 Report_Insurgency_170724_web.pdf.

OECD (2022): Due Diligence Guidance for Responsible Supply Chains of Minerals from Conflict-Affected and High-Risk Areas, Paris: OECD. https://www.oecd.org/daf/inv/mne/mining.html.

Ostby, G. (2015): Rural-urban migration, inequality and urban social disorder: Evidence from African and Asian cities. Conflict Management and Peace Science, 33(5), pp. 491-515

Owen, J.R., D. Kemp, A.M. Lechner, J. Harris, R. Zhang and É. Lèbre (2023): Energy transition minerals and their intersection with land-connected peoples.

Nat Sustain 6, 203–211. Available online at https://www.nature.com/articles/s41893-022-00994-6?utm_campaign=Carbon%20Brief%20Daily%20Briefing&utm_content=20221202&utm_medium=e-mail&utm_source=Revue%20Daily#citeas.

Politically Speaking (2022): Seeds of Change: How Indigenous Women's Ancestral Knowledge Can Bolster Climate Security. Published by Politically Speaking.

Potts, M. E., B. Mosello, R. Munayer and G. Cucinotta (2023): Practical Note: Next steps towards an inclusive Climate, Peace and Security agenda. Berlin: adelphi. Torino: UNSSC. Available online at https://weatheringrisk.org/sites/default/files/document/ Practical_Note_Next%20steps_towards_inclusive_CPS.pdf.

Rosa Chávez, H., D. Ivleva, H. Morales Muñoz, K. Schulz, B. Mosello and L. Rüttinger (2023): Climate Security Risk Brief: El Salvador. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://adelphi.de/de/publikationen/climate-fragility-risk-brief-el-salvador.

Rüttinger, L., R. Munayer, P. van Ackern and F. Titze (2022): The Nature of Conflict and Peace- The links between environment, security and peace and their importance for the United Nations. Berlin/Gland: adelphi consult GmbH / WWF International Available online at https://adelphi.de/en/publications/the-nature-of-conflict-and-peace

Rüttinger, L., L. Destrijcker, H. Morales Muñoz,
A. Foong, J. Gomolka and L. Binder (2023): African Climate Security Risk Assessment Executive
Summary. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://weatheringrisk.org/sites/default/files/document/
Africa_Climate_Security_Risk_Assessment_
Executive_Summary_2.pdf.

Rüttinger, L., L. Destrijcker, H. Morales Muñoz, A. Foong, J. Gomolka and L. Binder (forthcoming): African Climate Security Risk Assessment. Berlin: adelphi.

Sarkissian, H. (2021): Untapped potential: women leadership is key to effective water diplomacy in the Middle East. New Security Beat.

Scales, Ivan R. and Daniel A. Friess (2019): Patterns of mangrove forest disturbance and biomass removal due to small-scale harvesting in southwestern Madagascar. In Wetlands Ecology and Management 27 (5-6), pp. 609–625. DOI: 10.1007/s11273-019-09680-5.

Schmelzer, N. and B. Mosello (2023): Roots for peace: uncovering climate security challenges in Haiti and what to do about them. Policy Brief. Available online at https://weatheringrisk.org/sites/default/files/document/Haiti_Policy_brief_final_050923.pdf.

Sikorsky, E. and B. Hugh (2023): Weathering Risk Climate Security Scenarios in the Balkans. The International Military Council on Climate and Security Expert Group and the Center for Climate and Security, an institute of the Council on Strategic Risks. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://weatheringrisk.org/en/publication/climate-security-scenarios-balkans.

Sonno, T. (2023): Globalization and Conflicts: the Good, the Bad, and the Ugly of Corporations in Africa. London: Centre for Economic Performance London School of Economics. Available online at https://www.tommasosonno.com/docs/ GlobalizationConflict_TommasoSonno.pdf.

Sova, C., G. Fountain E. Zembilci, T. Carr (2023): Dangerously hungry: The link between food insecurity and conflict. World Food Program USA. Available online at https://climate-diplomacy.org/magazine/conflict/dangerously-hungry-link-between-food-in-security-and-conflict

South African Institute of International Affairs (2022): Africa's mineral resources are critical for the green energy transition. South African Institute of International Affairs. Available online at https://saiia.org.za/research/africas-mineral-resources-are-critical-for-the-green-energy-transition/.

Statista (2020): Total population across the Middle East and North Africa from 1990 to 2050. Hamburg. Available online at https://www.statista.com/statistics/978535/mena-total-population/#:~:-text=The%20total%20population%20in%20the%20Middle%20East%20and,double%20by%2020the%20Middle%20Fast%20about%20724%20million.

Steinkraus, A. and B. Mosello (2023): Water action is climate action: Opportunities for peace post 2023 UN Water Conference. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://climate-diplomacy.org/magazine/cooperation/water-action-climate-action-opportunities-peace-post-2023-un-water-conference.

The Water Diplomat (2021): Water Weaponisation Continues in Northeast Syria. Damascus. Available online at: https://www.waterdiplomat.org/story/2021/05/water-weaponisation-continues-northeast-syria

Terraza, H., M. B. Orlando, C. Lakovits, V. Lopes Janik and A. Kalashyan (2020): Handbook for Gender-Inclusive Urban Planning and Design. Washington, DC: World Bank. Available online at https://open-knowledge.worldbank.org/entities/publication/63c0 7ff8-cd1e-52c0-9441-005b9aa22bcf.

McMurray, S., L. Rüttinger and S. Arcone (2023): Pacific Climate Security Assessment Guide. New York: UNDP. Fiji: PIFS. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://weatheringrisk.org/sites/default/files/document/Pacific_Climate_Security_Assessment_Guide_webversion.pdf.

UNGA (2023): Resolution 77/276, "Request for an advisory Opinion of the International Court of Justice on the obligations of States in respect of climate change", A/RES/77/276.

United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (2023): Global Humanitarian Overview 2024. Available online at https://www.unocha.org/ publications/report/world/global-humanitarian-overview-2024-enarfrsp

United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (2022): Early warnings for all of Africa. Geneva: United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (UNDRR). Available online at https://www.undrr.org/news/early-warnings-all-africa.

Ursu, A. (2018): Under the gun. Resource conflicts and embattled traditional authorities in Central Mali. Resource conflict and radical armed governance in central Mali. The Hague: Netherlands Institute of International Relations Clingendael. The Hague. Available online at https://www.clingendael.org/sites/default/files/2018-07/under-the-gun.pdf.

Van Ackern, P., A. Foong and L. Rüttinger (2023): Co-operation in the Shar/ Šara Mountains and Korab Massif area. Scoping study on addressing shared climate-related security challenges and strengthening resilience. Berlin: adelphi. Vienna: OSCE. Available online at https://adelphi.de/en/publications/co-operation-in-the-sharsara-mountains-and-korab-massif-area.

Vivekananda, J., M. Wall, F. Sylvestre and C. Nagarajan (2019): Shoring up Stability. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://adelphi.de/system/files/mediathek/bilder/Lake%20Chad%20 Shoring%20up%20Stability.pdf

Weathering Risk (2023): The Weathering Risk Peace Pillar. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://weatheringrisk.org/en/peacepillar.

Weir, D. (2017): Conflict Pollution and the Toxic Remnants of War. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://climate-diplomacy.org/magazine/environment/conflict-pollution-and-toxic-remnants-war-global-problem-receives-too-little.

WFP USA (2017): Winning the Peace: Hunger and Instability. Washington, D.C.: World Food Program USA.

Whitaker, E. (2023): Risk-informed water governance, a critical tool to avert hunger and conflict. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at https://climate-diploma-cy.org/magazine/environment/risk-informed-water-governance-critical-tool-avert-hunger-and-conflict.

Whitaker, E. and A. Steinkraus (2023): Building climate and conflict resilient livelihoods and food systems: Insights from East Africa. Berlin: adelphi. Washington, D.C.: World Food Program. Available online at https://weatheringrisk.org/sites/default/files/document/Building_climate_and_conflict_resilient_livelihoods_and_food_systems_Insights_from_East_Africa.pdf.

Whitaker, E., L. Destrijcker, J. C. Dieffenbacher and H. E. Kurnoth (2023): Climate Security Study: Kenya. Weathering Risk. Berlin: adelphi. Available online at: https://www.weatheringrisk.org/sites/default/files/document/Climate_Security_Study_Kenya.pdf.

World Bank (2022): Defueling Conflict Environment and Natural Resource Management as a Pathway to Peace. Rome: The World Bank Group. Available online at https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/099520010272224660/pdf/P1771510b38f-da01e0afec01edd810d8cde.pdf.

World Bank (n.d.): Social dimensions of climate change. Washington, D.C.: World Bank. Available online at https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/social-dimensions-of-climate-change.

World Bank (n.d.): Climate Change Knowledge Portal. Washington, D.C.: World Bank. Available online at https://climateknowledgeportal.worldbank.org/country/jordan#:~:text=More%20than%20
80%25%20of%20the%20country%20is%20unpopulated,land%20use%2C%20coastal%20areas%20management%2C%20health%20and%20tourism.

WHO (n.d.): Drought. Geneva: World Health Organization. Available online at https://www.who.int/health-topics/drought#tab=tab_1.

WWF (2023): Fact Sheet: Congo Basin. Gland: World Wide Fund for Nature. Available online at https://www.worldwildlife.org/places/congo-basin.

